IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 89116 4th DCA no. 95-0300

STATE OF FLORIDA,

SID J. WHITE

OCT 7 1996

Petitioner,

ν.

CLERK, SUPREME COURT Chief Deputy Cherk

ELIJA DAVIS,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI REVIEW

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

GEORGINA JIMENEZ-OROSA Senior Assistant

Attorney General Florida Bar No. 441510

JAMES J. CARNEY

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 475246 1655 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd. West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone (407) 688-7759

Counsel for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Elija Davis was the defendant below and will be referred to as "Respondent." The State will be referred to as "Petitioner." References to the record will be preceded by "R." References to any supplemental record will be preceded by "SR."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent was charged by information with trafficking in over 28 grams of cocaine (R 381). During voir dire, the trial judge told prospective jurors that first cardinal rule was that they must presume Appellant innocent (R 142). The second cardinal rule is that the State has the burden to prove the Defendant guilty (R 142-43). The Defendant does not have to prove his innocence (R 143).

The trial judge then told the prospective jurors (R 143-45):

Now, the third cardinal rule is that in order for you, the jury, to find the Defendant guilty, you must be satisfied, the State must demonstrate to you beyond and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt that the Defendant is guilty. And that's a landmark concept and a bedrock foundation of American juris prudence.

Any time, any Defendant is found guilty by a jury of committing any crime, whether it rape, robbery, burglary, drug trafficiking, arson, or stealing a six pack of beer, any time a jury finds a Defendant guilty of committing a crime, that means that jury has been satisfied, that jury has been convinced beyond and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt of the Defendant's guilt.

Now, I'll give you a more elaborate definition of what that phrase "beyond and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt" means when I give you the legal instructions at the conclusion of the trial. But suffice it to say it's a very heavy burden that the

State shoulders whenever it charges somebody with committing a crime.

In order to secure from the jury a conviction, the State must convince you beyond and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt of the Defendant's guilt. But even though it's a very heavy burden that the State has whenever it charges somebody with committing a crime, in order to secure a conviction, the State does not, and I repeat, stress, emphasize, the State does not have to convince you, the jury, to an absolute certainty of the Defendant's guilt. You do not have to be 100 percent certain that the Defendant is guilty in order to find him guilty.

The point I'm trying to make is that you can still have a doubt as to Mr. Davis' guilt and still find him guilty so long as it's not a reasonable doubt. A reasonable doubt simply stated is a doubt you can attach a reason to.

In other words, if after the conclusion of the trial you have a doubt as to the Mr. Davis' guilt that you can attach a reason to, ladies and gentlemen, that's a reasonable doubt, and you must find the defendant not guilty.

But if at the conclusion of trial the only kind of doubt you have as to Mr. Davis' guilt is a possible doubt, a speculative doubt, an imaginary doubt, or forced doubt, that's not a reasonable doubt. And if all the elements of trafficking in cocaine have been proven to you beyond and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt, you must find the Defendant guilty.

The trial judge told prospective jurors that the burden of

proof was on the State (R 147). Respondent's failure to present evidence could not be held against him (R 147-48, 353).

The trial judge then said (R 150-51):

Now, the fifth phase of the trial is what's known as the legal instructions. That's where I give you the law that you apply to the evidence in this case. Any preconceived ideas you have as to what the law should be, must be disregarded by you. The only law you apply to the evidence in this case is the law I give you.

At the close of evidence, the trial judge instructed the jury that the burden of proof was on the State and that the Defendant was presumed innocent until every material allegation of the offenses are proved beyond a reasonable doubt (R 345, 350).

The trial judge then stated (R 351):

Remember, the Defendant is never required to prove anything. Whenever you hear the words reasonable doubt you must consider the following:

A reasonable doubt is not a possible doubt, a speculative doubt, an imaginary doubt or a forced doubt.

Such a doubt must not influence your to return a verdict of not guilty if, in fact, you have an abiding conviction of guilt. On the other hand, if after carefully considering, comparing and weighing all the evidence, there is not an abiding conviction of guilt, or if having a conviction, it is one which is not stable, but one which waivers [sic] and vacillates, then the charge is not proved beyond every reasonable

doubt and you must find the Defendant not guilty because a doubt is reasonable.

It is to the evidence introduced upon this trial, and to it alone that you are to look at that proof. A reasonable doubt may arise from the evidence, lack of evidence, or conflict in the evidence. The bottom line is if you have a reasonable doubt, you should find the defendant not guilty. If you have no reasonable doubt, you should find the defendant guilty.

The trial judge later told the jurors that they must follow the law as given in these instructions (R 354). The case must be decided only upon the evidence (R 354). The trial judge again reminded the jury that they must follow the law as explained in these instructions just given (R 357).

The jury found Petitioner guilty of the lesser offense of possession with intent to deliver (R 395). The Fourth District reversed, finding the trial judge's unobjected to preliminary statements on reasonable doubt made to prospective jurors to be fundamental error under Jones v. State, 656 So. 2d 489 (Fla. 4th DCA), rev. denied, 663 So. 2d 632 (Fla. Nov. 7, 1995) (copy of opinion in this case attached). The Court certified the same question certified in Wilson v. State, 668 So. 2d 998 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995), rev. granted, 672 So. 2d 543 (Fla. 1996).

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The issue in this case is whether a trial judge's unobjected to preliminary comments on reasonable doubt constitute fundamental error. This claim has been raised in at least twenty cases, including:

Brown v. State, Case no. 95-3997 (pending)

David Jones v. State,
656 So. 2d 489 (Fla. 4th DCA),
rev. denied, 663 So. 2d 632 (Fla. Nov. 7, 1995) (reversed)

<u>Cifuentes v. State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D77 (Fla. 4th DCA Jan. 3, 1996) (reversed based on <u>Jones</u>) (pending in this Court, case no. 88,415)

Frazier v. State, 664 So. 2d 985 (Fla. 4th DCA),
rev. denied, 666 So. 2d 145 (Fla. 1995) (reversed based
on Jones).

<u>Jones v. State</u>, 662 So. 2d 365 (Fla. 4th DCA), rev. denied, 664 So. 2d 249 (Fla. 1995) (reversed based on <u>Jones</u>).

Lusskin v. State, Case No. 95-0721 (pending)

McInnis v. State, 671 So. 2d 803 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996)
(reversed based on <u>Jones</u>, pending in this Court, case no.
87,915).

<u>Pierce v. State</u>, 671 So. 2d 186 (Fla 4th DCA 1996) (reversed based on <u>Jones</u>, jurisdiction pending in this Court, Case no. 87,862).

<u>Poole v. State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D245 (Fla. 4th DCA Jan. 24, 1996) (reversed based on <u>Jones</u>), pending in this Court, case no. 88,414.

Rayfield v. State, 664 So. 2d 6 (Fla. 4th DCA), rev. denied,

664 So. 2d 249 (Fla. 1995) (reversed based on <u>Jones</u>).

Reyes v. State, Case No. 88,242 (pending in this Court).

<u>Variance v. State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D79 (Fla. 4th DCA Jan. 31, 1996) (reversed based on <u>Jones</u>) (jurisdiction accepted by this Court, Case no. 87,916).

Wilson v. State, 668 So. 2d 998 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995)
(reversed based on <u>Jones</u>, pending in this Court, case no.
87,575).

Bove v. State, 670 So. 2d 1066 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996) (reversed based on <u>Jones</u>, question certified).

Rodriguez v. State, Case no. 95-0749 (pending).

Smith v. State, Case no. 95-1636 (pending).

Jackson v. State, Case no. 95-3738 (pending).

Davis v. State, Case no. 95-0300 (this case).

The trial judge in <u>Jones</u> had been making these preliminary comments for many years. Not surprisingly, this issue is also being raised in post-conviction motions. <u>See</u>

e.g., <u>Tricarico v. State</u>, 629 So. 2d 142 (Fla. 4th DCA

1993) (trial court case no. 91-8232 CF10).

Obviously, some of theses cases may be difficult to retry.

A great number of victims are affected by these cases. Smith involves convictions for kidnaping, extortion, impersonating a police officer and burglary. This case involves the killing of a young child. Lusskin involves a conviction for solicitation to

commit first degree murder. <u>Bove</u> is a first degree murder case.

Rodriguez is an attempted first degree murder case. <u>Tricarico</u> is a first degree murder case.

In McInnis, the Fourth District found the comments of a second trial judge to be fundamental error under Jones. In Smith, a third judge's comments are being challenged as impermissible under Jones. In Brown, and Jackson, the comments of two more trial judge's are being challenged as fundamental under Jones. This issue is unquestionably one of great public importance. This Court should accept jurisdiction as it did in Wilson and correct the Fourth District's far-reaching misapplication of the law as soon as possible.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

<u>I & II</u>

Taken alone, or properly considered with the complete, approved, standard instructions given at the end of trial, the unobjected to preliminary comments on reasonable doubt were an accurate statement of the law. The reasonable doubt standard does not require absolute or one hundred percent certainty. Absolute or one hundred percent certainty is an impossibility. The trial judge's comments were not error, fundamental or otherwise.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT'S UNOBJECTED TO PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON REASONABLE DOUBT, MADE BEFORE THE JURY WAS SELECTED OR SWORN, WERE NOT ERROR.

The Fourth District found the following comments to be fundamental error (R 143-45):

Now, the third cardinal rule is that in order for you, the jury, to find the Defendant guilty, you must be satisfied, the State must demonstrate to you beyond and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt that the Defendant is guilty. And that's a landmark concept and a bedrock foundation of American juris prudence.

Any time, any Defendant is found guilty by a jury of committing any crime, whether it rape, robbery, burglary, drug trafficiking, arson, or stealing a six pack of beer, any time a jury finds a Defendant guilty of committing a crime, that means that jury has been satisfied, that jury has been convinced beyond and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt of the Defendant's guilt.

Now, I'll give you a more elaborate definition of what that phrase "beyond and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt" means when I give you the legal instructions at the conclusion of the trial. But suffice it to say it's a very heavy burden that the State shoulders whenever it charges somebody with committing a crime.

In order to secure from the jury a conviction, the State must convince you beyond and to the exclusion of every

reasonable doubt of the Defendant's guilt. But even though it's a very heavy burden that the State has whenever it charges somebody with committing a crime, in order to secure a conviction, the State does not, and I repeat, stress, emphasize, the State does not have to convince you, the jury, to an absolute certainty of the Defendant's guilt. You do not have to be 100 percent certain that the Defendant is guilty in order to find him guilty.

The point I'm trying to make is that you can still have a doubt as to Mr. Davis' guilt and still find him guilty so long as it's not a reasonable doubt. A reasonable doubt simply stated is a doubt you can attach a reason to.

In other words, if after the conclusion of the trial you have a doubt as to the Mr. Davis' guilt that you can attach a reason to, ladies and gentlemen, that's a reasonable doubt, and you must find the defendant not guilty.

But if at the conclusion of trial the only kind of doubt you have as to Mr. Davis' guilt is a possible doubt, a speculative doubt, an imaginary doubt, or forced doubt, that's not a reasonable doubt. And if all the elements of trafficking in cocaine have been proven to you beyond and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt, you must find the Defendant guilty (emphasis supplied).

Initially, Petitioner notes that the "instruction" found to be fundamental error in this case and in <u>Jones v. State</u>, 656 So. 2d 489 (Fla. 4th DCA), <u>rev. denied</u>, 663 So. 2d 632 (Fla. 1995), was a *preliminary* statement made to prospective jurors before a

jury was selected or sworn and before any evidence was taken.

These potential jurors had no legal duty to heed the preliminary statements made prior to their being sworn as jurors. <u>United</u>

<u>States v. Dilg</u>, 700 F.2d 620, 625 (11th Cir. 1983). There is no legal basis to assume that they did follow these statements <u>Id</u>.

Even if these preliminary comments could somehow be considered equivalent to formal instructions to which the later selected and sworn jury was bound, <u>Jones</u> is incorrect. In <u>Jones</u>, the Fourth District held that a preliminary jury "instruction" on reasonable doubt constituted fundamental error because it indicated "absolute" or "one hundred percent" certainty was not required. 656 So. 2d at 490.

The trial judge's comment was an accurate statement of the law. It is undeniable that the reasonable doubt standard does not require absolute or one hundred percent certainty. It is undeniable that absolute or one hundred percent certainty is an impossibility. In fact, if a prospective juror demands one hundred percent proof by the State, that is grounds to strike the prospective juror. See Drew v. State, 743 S.W. 2d 207, 209-10 (Tex.Cr.App. 1987) and cases cited therein (prospective juror properly struck by State where he said he would require "one hundred percent" proof as that level of proof exceeded the

reasonable doubt standard); Ruland v. State, 614 So. 2d 537, 538

(Fla. 3d DCA), rev. denied, 626 So. 2d 207 (Fla. 1993) (same) and

United States v. Hannigan, 27 F. 3d 890, 894 (3rd Cir. 1994) n. 3

(reasonable doubt standard does not require 100 percent

probability). The trial judge's statement is completely

accurate.

Moreover, the trial judge's preliminary comment was balanced. The trial judge repeatedly stated that it was a very heavy burden (R 144). The trial judge stated that a reasonable doubt was a doubt one can attach a reason to, so long as it was not a possible doubt, a speculative doubt, an imaginary doubt, or a forced doubt (R 145). The latter portion of this statement is taken directly from approved standard instruction on reasonable doubt. See Florida Standard Jury Instruction 2.03. If anything, the language equating reasonable doubt with any doubt one can attach a reason to, overstates the quantum of proof required.

See Victor v. Nebraska, 511 U.S. ____, 114 S. Ct. 1329, 127 L. Ed. 2d 583, 597 (1994) (a reasonable doubt at a minimum, is one based upon reason).

The trial court's comments also repeatedly stressed and emphasized that the proof must be beyond and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt (R 143-45). "Reasonable doubt" has a

self-evident meaning. See Butler v. State, 646 A. 2d 331, 336 (D.C.App. 1994) (term "reasonable doubt" has self-evident meaning comprehensible to lay juror). Taken as a whole, the preliminary comment did not understate the burden of proof required. See Victor, 127 L. Ed. 2d at 597, 601 (instructions must be read as a whole).

Additionally, Jones did not mention that as in this case, the complete, approved, standard jury instructions on reasonable doubt were given to the sworn jury at the end of the case. See Esty v. State, 642 So. 2d 1074, 1080 (Fla. 1994) (approving the standard jury instruction on reasonable doubt, citing Victor). The State had been arguing in the many cases affected by Jones, that the Fourth District overlooked the fact that the complete, approved, standard instructions were given. However, subsequent cases make it clear that the Fourth District did not overlook that fact, it simply refused to consider the "balancing effect" of the standard instructions because they were not given until the end of the case:

In addition, as in <u>Jones</u>, <u>there were no proper balancing instructions</u>. In both cases, the instructions were given to the venire, and <u>the standard instructions were not given until the jury was being instructed before retiring</u>. Without these balancing instructions, the error was fundamental.

McInnis v. State, 671 So. 2d 803, 804 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996) (emphasis supplied).

The Fourth District's holding that it would not consider the standard, complete, approved standard jury instructions as "balancing instructions" because they were not given until the end of the case, is directly contrary to rudimentary, blackletter law. In <u>Higginbotham v. State</u>, 19 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1944), this Court held:

It is a recognized rule that a single instruction cannot be considered alone, but must be considered in light of <u>all</u> other instructions bearing upon the subject, and if, when so considered, the law appears to have been fairly presented to the jury, the assignment on the instruction must fail (emphasis supplied).

This elementary principle of law has not changed since Higginbotham. See Austin v. State, 40 So. 2d 896, 897 (Fla.

- 1949) (same); Batson v. Shelton, 13 So. 2d 453, 456 (Fla.
- 1943)(same); <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 252 So. 2d 361, 364 (Fla.
- 1971)(same); <u>Esty v. State</u>, 642 So. 2d 1074, 1080 (Fla.
- 1994)(same); McCaskill v. State, 344 So. 2d 1276, 1278 (Fla.
- 1977)(same); <u>Krajewski v. State</u>, 587 So. 2d 1175, 1180 (Fla. 4th
- DCA 1991) and <u>Sloan v. Oliver</u>, 221 So. 2d 435 (Fla. 4th DCA 1969).

Petitioner also notes that the trial judge specifically incorporated by reference the complete, approved, standard instruction on reasonable doubt **while** making the preliminary comments on reasonable doubt (R 144):

Now. I'll give you a more elaborate definition of what that phrase "beyond and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt" means when I give you the legal instructions at the conclusion of the trial. But suffice it to say it's a very heavy burden that the State shoulders whenever it charges somebody with committing a crime (emphasis supplied).

The trial judge then said (R 150-51):

Now, the fifth phase of the trial is what's known as the legal instructions. That's where I give you the law that you apply to the evidence in this case. Any preconceived ideas you have as to what the law should be, must be disregarded by you. The only law you apply to the evidence in this case is the law I give you.

The Fourth District in <u>Jones</u> stated that "At bar, the trial judge's instructions <u>were accurate</u> as far as they went." <u>Id</u>. at 491 (emphasis supplied). It is extremely difficult to see how the preliminary comments, which the Fourth District acknowledged were "accurate as far as they went," could be fundamental error when considered with the standard, approved, complete jury instructions on reasonable doubt, incorporated by reference into the preliminary comments on reasonable doubt. <u>Jones</u> as clarified

in <u>McInnis</u>, directly conflicts with <u>Esty</u>, <u>Higginbotham</u>, and all other cases holding that instructions must be considered as a whole. This Court should quash this far-reaching misapplication of the law by disapproving <u>Jones</u> and reversing this case.

The Fourth District relied on <u>Cage v. Louisiana</u>, 498 U.S.

39, 111 S. Ct. 328, 112 L. Ed. 2d 339 (1990), in finding the statement in <u>Jones</u> to be fundamental error. <u>Id</u>. at 490-91. <u>Cage</u> does not support the Fourth District's holding. In that case the instruction equated a reasonable doubt with an "actual substantial doubt," "such doubt as would give rise to a grave uncertainty." <u>See Victor</u>, 127 L. Ed. 2d at 590.

Saying that absolute certainty is not required, a completely accurate statement, is world's apart from the "grave uncertainty" language in Cage. The comments in this case were accurate and went further by including the full, approved, standard instructions on reasonable doubt and presumption of innocence.

See Higginbothem, 19 So. 2d at 830; Victor, 127 L. Ed. 2d at 597, 601 (instructions must be read as a whole). Those instructions included the "abiding conviction of guilt" language (R 2078), which Victor specifically held correctly states the Government's burden of proof. Id. at 596. Victor held that when that language was combined with the challenged language in that case, any

problem with the instruction was cured. Id. at 596, 600.

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