#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

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

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

I.

The District Court applied sound principles of law in ruling that the trial judge's improvised instruction to the jury, that certainty was not essential to a verdict of guilt, was proper and within the District Court's authority to decide questions of law. The trial judge's definition of reasonable doubt lessened the state's burden of proof and authorized the jury to return a guilty verdict on less than proof beyond a reasonable doubt. There is little in our constitutional law more established than that the reasonable doubt standard is essential to the core of a lawful verdict and to the validity of the outcome of a criminal proceeding.

Π.

The District Court's finding of fundamental error is consistent with this Court's prior decisions on deviations from the approved reasonable doubt instruction. Petitioner's attempt to justify the improper instruction as helpful to the respondent at trial is, and shows the instruction itself to be, a violation of judicial neutrality.

## RESPONSE TO PETITIONER'S JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Respondent does not agree that this case is of great public importance premised upon the inventory of other cases petitioner has listed. The other pending cases listed are outside the record in this case and, except for a few of them, are not even reported decisions. The listed cases, both pending and decided, are not fair for consideration in deciding the legal issue presented here. Neither this Court nor respondent can fully examine the records in them so as to determine their proper effect, if any, on this Court's consideration of this case. Those cases that have proceeded to decision through denial of certiorari by the United States Supreme Court are final and will be unaffected by the decision in this case. E.g. Jones v. State, 656 So. 2d 489 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995); Jones v. State, 662 So. 2d 365 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995); Rayfield v. State, 664 So. 2d 6 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995); Fraizer v. State, 664 So. 2d 985 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995). Other cases listed by Petitioner involve differently worded remarks by several other judges in the 17th Judicial Circuit, and may or may not be controlled by the decision here.

Respondent has no knowledge in regard to the claim that the trial judge for years has been giving preliminary instructions defining reasonable doubt in terms of less than certainty and certainly there is nothing in the record to demonstrate such a claim. Respondent does not agree that the instruction now used has been used in previous years since the precise remarks in this case are all that is before this Court in this case.

Respondent has no knowledge whether the other cases petitioner has mentioned would or would not be difficult for the state to retry. And further, petitioner's argument in this regard is irrelevant and inappropriate in relation to the legal issue.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### POINT I

DOES THE JURY INSTRUCTION GIVEN IN THIS CASE IMPERMISSIBLY REDUCE THE REASONABLE DOUBT STANDARD BELOW THE PROTECTIONS OF THE DUE PROCESS CLAUSE?<sup>2</sup>

This question must be answered in the affirmative.

### A. Victor v. Nebraska.

The Fourth District below followed its own decision in <u>Jones v. State</u>, 656 So. 2d 489 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995), <u>rev. den.</u>, 663 So. 2d 632 (Fla. 1995), <u>cert. den.</u> 64 U. S. L. W. 3691 (April 15, 1996), which relied upon <u>Cage v. Louisiana</u>, 498 U. S. 39, 111 S. Ct. 328, 112 L. Ed. 2d 337 (1990). Petitioner's assertion is that the decision below is at odds with the decision of the Supreme Court in <u>Victor v. Nebraska</u>, 511 U. S. \_\_\_\_, 114 S. Ct. 1329, 127 L. Ed. 2d 583 (1994).

The Supreme Court in <u>Victor</u> ruled on challenges to jury instructions using the term "moral certainty" or "moral evidence." Though considering the term antiquated, the Court found that the term as a whole focused upon the requirement that the jury reach a state of certainty based upon the evidence of guilt and not upon the morality or ethics of the acts of the accused.

That was a very different issue than the one before this Court regarding the trial court's excursion into describing reasonable doubt in terms of remaining doubts and lack of a need for certainty. The trial court here expressly told the jury that it could have doubts and still convict. The Court in <u>Victor</u> approved an instruction that included telling the jury that "strong probabilities" of the case could support a guilty verdict. What distinguishes that instruction is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Respondent rejects Petitioner's reformulation of the questions certified by the District Court. It is conclusory and slanted toward Petitioner's arguments. The questions as certified define the issues to be decided by this Court. They are also the same as those certified in the lead case before this Court, <u>Wilson v. State</u>, 668 So. 2d 998 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995), Supreme Court Case No. 87,575, orally argued June 7, 1996. The arguments in this brief are largely the same as those of the respondent in Wilson.

that it also was balanced with a clear admonition impressing upon the jury the need to reach the subjective state of near certitude inherent in human or moral affairs. Citing to <u>Jackson v. Virginia</u>, 443 U. S. 307, 315 and 320, n. 14 (1979), the Court found the instruction to be constitutionally acceptable because it could not reasonably be understood to invite conviction on less than the constitutionally required proof. The Fourth District understands this distinction as demonstrated by its recent opinion in <u>Smith v. State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D2234a (Fla. 4th DCA Oct. 16, 1996). In <u>Smith</u>, a trial judge again strayed from the standard reasonable doubt instruction but in a way which the appellate court found balanced with a firm admonition and emphasis on a high reasonable doubt standard. The decision in <u>Smith</u> demonstrates the District Court thoroughly understands <u>Victor</u> and the law as it relates to the reasonable doubt instruction and standard.

The instruction here failed in that regard. When the trial court told the jury here that it had to attach a reason to any doubt or doubts that would influence a not guilty verdict, the standard of proof was reduced to a level below that approved in <u>Victor</u>.

Moreover, <u>Victor</u> did not approve singling out for special emphasis convicting even in the face of doubts. Such emphasis is unprecedented in the manner by which the judge's pretrial admonition here was directed at easing the reasonable doubt standard. Above all the instruction conveyed that the trial judge was concerned not with the jury being convinced, but with their not worrying about being free of uncertainty and doubt when voting to convict. When an instruction affirmatively directs a trial jury to convict based on less than the due process requirement of proof beyond a reasonable doubt, it is equivalent to reducing the proceedings to no verdict at all. <u>Sullivan v. Louisiana</u>, 508 U. S. \_\_\_\_, 113 S. Ct. 2078, 124 L. Ed 2d 182 (1993) (constitutionally defective instruction in a state trial on reasonable doubt cannot be harmless error). The Court in <u>Victor</u> simply did not confront an instruction such as that given by the judge here.

As Petitioner has noted, the Court did note in <u>Victor</u> that it on one occasion found an instruction on reasonable doubt in violation of the Due Process Clause. <u>Cage v. Louisiana</u>,

<u>supra</u>. Regardless of the number of cases, since the Supreme Court is reluctant to dictate precise wording for a state's standard instruction, the principle is established that anything below the level of "beyond a reasonable doubt" is contrary to fundamental constitutional concepts.

While the trial judge here utilized some of the words from instructions quoted in <u>Victor</u>, it abandoned the full meaning and scope of reasonable doubt by directing respondent's trial jury away from the rigorous standard of elimination of uncertainty, within human reason, and toward a less rigorous but undefined standard. The failure to state some definite standard is a departure from the essential requirement that the jury be informed of the standard the constitution requires for conviction in a criminal trial.

## B. The timing of the pre-trial instruction.

Petitioner argues that the pre-trial timing of the erroneous instruction here makes it harmless. Yet, the instruction was given while the jurors were being qualified on their oaths. It not only instructed them, it emphasized the admonition and made what it said a part of their very qualification to serve in this case. The jury was pre-conditioned to understand the later jury instructions to mean what they had been qualified to understand them to mean. It would not matter if the judge read the standard instructions several times, if he did not also further advise the jury to affirmatively disregard what they had understood the "explanation" to mean earlier. The instructions during voir dire included a very direct admonition to apply a standard less than certainty, and failed to convey any kind of moral certainty, the essence of what the standard instruction seeks to convey. The pre-trial instruction was designed to ease the burden of conviction.

The judge's statement that the concept of proof beyond a reasonable doubt would be expounded upon more fully during the final instructions linked the early instructions to what the jury would hear later. This is the opposite of correcting and curing an erroneous instruction. The early instructions stressed to the jury that they might make a mistake by applying too high a standard of proof.

The timing of the admonition did nothing to eliminate its harm. The later standard instructions were tainted by the earlier emphasis on the non-standard explanation of the doubts that could remain for a verdict of guilty. The erroneous admonition remained with the jury throughout the entire trial. By the time the standard instructions were given at the conclusion of the trial, the earlier erroneous instructions had long before been absorbed, and had distorted the jury's view of the case throughout the evidentiary portion of the trial. Only an extraordinarily forceful concluding instruction to disregard could have countered this effect. No such instruction was given, and the standard instruction was insufficient.

## C. A fundamental constitutional principle.

This Court has for over 100 years adhered to the rule that moral certainty is exactly what is meant by the state's burden of proving guilt beyond a reasonable doubt in a criminal case. See, Lovett v. State, 30 Fla. 142, 11 So. 550 (1892). Beyond a reasonable doubt, and moral certainty, mean the same thing. The proof required is beyond a reasonable doubt, not simply to a reasonable doubt. Nothing less is permissible, and neither a tie nor a preponderance, not even a clear and convincing quantum of proof, go to the plaintiff in a criminal case.

The standard of proof is as fundamental as the principle that to try an incompetent defendant violates due process. Medina v. California, 505 U. S. 546, 453, \_\_\_\_ S.Ct. \_\_\_, 120 L. Ed. 2d 353 (1992); Drope v. Missouri, 420 U. S. 162, 171-172, 95 S. Ct. 896; 43 L. Ed. 2d 103 (1975). Recently in Cooper v. Oklahoma, \_\_\_ U. S. \_\_\_, (April 16, 1996), the Court engaged in a similar analysis to determine whether the standard of proof to prove incompetency is "so rooted in the traditions and conscience of our people as to be ranked as fundamental." Id., at \_\_\_ (quoting Patterson v. New York, 432 U. S. 197, 202, 97 S. Ct. 2319, 53 L. Ed. 2d 281 (1977)). Finding that the presumption of competence offends no fundamental principle, the Court held that the "more stringent the burden of proof a party must bear, the more that party bears the risk of an erroneous decision." Id., at \_\_\_ (quoting Cruzan v. Director, Mo. Dept. of Health, 497 U. S. 261, 283, 110 S. Ct. 2841, 11 L. Ed. 2d 224 (1990)).

The standard of proof is a basic concept rooted in our criminal justice system, and inherent in the individual protections afforded by our Constitutions. The Court stated, in Cooper, at \_\_\_\_, quoting from Addington v. Texas, 441 U. S. 418, 423, 99 S. Ct. 1804, 60 L. Ed. 2d 323 (1979):

"The function of a standard of proof, as that concept is embodied in the Due Process Clause and in the realm of factfinding, is to instruct the factfinder concerning the degree of confidence our society thinks he should have in the correctness of factual conclusions for a particular type of adjudication." [Quoting, In re Winship, 397 U. S. 358, 370 (1970) (Harlan, J., concurring)].

This Court has consistently required proper instruction to a jury on the standard, and burden, of proof in a criminal trial. In <u>Lovett v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, this Court considered in depth the necessary and correct instruction that should be given on reasonable doubt in a criminal trial. Formulating what has become Florida's long adhered to standard instruction, the Court recognized "the difficulty of defining a reasonable doubt" and, utilizing what it termed "eminent judicial sources," framed the instruction used to this day. Most enlightening is the discussion of numerous cases teaching that it is an evaluative weighing by the jury to inform and convince their minds and consciences. After setting forth the instruction, much the same used today, the Court said, 30 Fla. at 163, 11 So at 554:

From what is said in the last preceding paragraph we think there will be no difficulty in the future in formulating a brief but sufficient charge on the question of a reasonable doubt, adhering to the idea of it heretofore sanctioned by this court (Earnest vs. State, 20 Fla., 383), and avoiding any of the questionable expressions as to it.

Throughout our state's history, this Court has made clear that the standard of proof requires a conviction in the minds and conscience of the jurors. <u>Id.</u> A conclusion formed after weighing all the evidence or circumstances "without being fully convinced of the correctness of the such conclusion" is "altogether insufficient for a conviction in a criminal case." Id.

In <u>Woodruff v. State</u>, 31 Fla. 320, 12 So. 653 (1893), this Court, following <u>Lovett</u>, equated proof beyond a reasonable doubt to evidence or testimony that "produces an abiding conviction to a moral certainty of the guilt of the accused [for] there is no reasonable doubt;

whatever doubt may co-exist with such a state of proof is not reasonable. 31 Fla. at 337-338, 12 So. at 658. This Court in Woodruff held that it was permissible to use words equivalent to "a moral certainty," and that an instruction could be correct without that phrase if, and conditioned upon, another expression of equivalent terms. Thus, this Court made clear that certainty, of a kind inherent in the nature of human affairs, is required. A proper instruction must, in substance, be consistent with what has been approved by this Court. 31 Fla. at 337, 12 So. at 658. See also, Thomas v. State, 220 So. 2d 650 (Fla. 3d DCA 1969), holding that proof beyond a reasonable doubt and to "a moral certainty" are interchangeable and synonymous. The District Court below was correct in holding that a trial court's admonition to a jury that it may have doubts and still find the defendant guilty conveys a contrary standard, less than proof to a moral certainty. It authorizes a verdict that carries less than the confidence in a criminal conviction required by the Due Process Clause of both the Florida and United States Constitutions.

#### POINT II

### IF SO, IS THE INSTRUCTION FUNDAMENTAL ERROR?

This question must also be answered in the affirmative.

#### A. Fundamental error.

This Court in Archer v. State, 673 So. 2d 17, 20 (Fla. 1996), stated the rule that "jury instructions are subject to the contemporaneous objection rule" and that absent an objection at trial an error can be raised on appeal "only if fundamental error occurred." Fundamental error is "error which reaches down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error." Id. This Court quoted State v. Delva, 575 So. 2d 643, 644-45 (Fla. 1991), which quoted from Brown v. State, 124 So. 2d 481, 484 (Fla. 1960). In considering whether an instruction attempting to define reasonable doubt is fundamentally erroneous, this Court will affirm when there is "nothing misleading or confusing about the charge." McLeod v. State, 128 Fla. 35, 44, 174 So. 466, 469 (1937).

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